

SPICe Briefing Pàipear-ullachaidh SPICe

The Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill

Anne Jepson

The Scottish Government introduced the Health and Care (Staffing)Scotland Bill in the Parliament on 23 May 2018. It proposes a basis for appropriate and safe staffing across all health and social care settings underpinned by a set of guiding principles. Its purpose is to place the use of existing staff planning methods in health settings on a statutory footing. This briefing considers the background and the main provisions of the Bill.



Contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	5
Workforce Planning in Health and Care Settings	7
Why was better workforce planning required?	8
What did the Workload and Workforce Planning Project Produce?	9
How do the tools work?	
SPICe survey on use of the NMWWPP tools	
Social Care Staffing	13
Governance and regulation of health and social care services	16
What does the Bill aim to do?	18
The legislative context	18
Committee Call for views on the Bill	19
General Principles	19
Is the Bill limited in its scope?	20
Is the Bill necessary?	22
Multi-disciplinary teams, integration of health and social care and skewing of resource	23
The Bill itself - Part 1 - Guiding Principles for Staffing	24
Part 2 - Staffing in the NHS	25
Part 3 - Staffing in Care Services	27
Part 4 - General Provisions	28
Monitoring and Enforcement	
Resources and Finance	31
Bibliography	33

Executive Summary

The purpose of the Bill is to place on a statutory footing the use of an existing, but enhanced, workforce planning method (tools). The use of the 'common staffing method' will be required in certain specified health settings. The Bill also enables the development and validation of appropriate staff planning methods for other health and social care settings, initially for care homes. The aim is to ensure safe and appropriate staffing levels using clear, evidence-based methodologies. The workforce planning tools referred to in the Bill have been mandated for use by all territorial health boards by the Scottish Government since 2013.

Workforce planning is conducted at both a national and a local (health board/social care provider) level. Staffing requirements for health settings and social care settings are assessed and monitored in a variety of ways, and are the responsibility of different bodies.

The Scottish Government has overall responsibility for national health service workforce planning. The Scottish Government decide on the numbers of most health service staff entering training, but not for those entering the allied health professions. The Government also has oversight of recruitment into the health service, and an overview of where pressures are across the professions in terms of availability of qualified staff. Health boards conduct their own workforce or workload planning according to the needs of their own populations, local context and demography. They do this in the context of government-directed policy.

From 2004, a set of 12 workforce planning tools for nursing and midwifery were developed, as part of the methodology Health Boards use to decide, on an annual basis, the staff establishmentⁱ for most nursing settings. The tools are based on an average workload for each specialty across Scotland, and are supplemented, in a triangulated approach, by considering the specifics of local context, quality measures and professional judgement. Health Boards were instructed to use the tools and methodology from 2013.

The social care sector is very disparate in terms of service delivery, governance and structures. Social care for adults, for example, covers large independent providers based outwith Scotland, running 'care at home' services and care homes, to those run by local authorities, housing associations or a single, family run care home or care at home business. There is no obvious parallel with health services or health boards.

The Bill is in four parts. Part 1 of the Bill sets out the guiding principles for health and care staffing. The first principle is that staffing is in place to provide 'safe and high quality services'. It is important to note that this part spans the health and care services landscape, and all the staff within it, and refers to all health settings and all care settings registered by the Care Inspectorate. The intention is to create a coherent legislative framework across sectors through the application of these guiding principles.

Part 2 of the Bill seeks to amend Section 12I of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 ¹ These provisions extend and provide more detail to the duties of health boards concerning staff governance and workforce planning. Under the 1978 Act it is the duty of health boards to 'put and keep in place arrangements for the purposes of:

i establishment' in this context means the number of permanent nursing or midwifery staff required, as assessed at least annually, for each healthcare setting. Vacancy rates are monitored by NHS ISD based on these establishments.

- (a) improving the management of the officers employed by it:
- (b) monitoring such management; and
- (c) workforce planning.'

The amendments to the 1978 Act, contained in Part 2, Sections 12IB - 12ID provides a detailed description of the 'common staffing method'.

Part 3 of the Bill would enable the social care sector to build on the existing mechanisms contained in Regulation 15 of the Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Requirements for Care Services) Regulations 2011 ². It also places the general 'appropriate staffing' duty on care service providers (Section 6), giving them an equivalent responsibility to Health Boards. It amends the Public Service Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, Section 82, to provide that the Care Inspectorate may lead the development and validation of methodologies and workload and workforce planning tools in collaboration with the sector to be used in 'care home for adults' settings where necessary. This would apply to care homes for adults over the age of 18, not just care homes for older people. ³

It is not clear what will happen if a health board or social care provider does not meet the duties set out in the Bill. Health Boards and social care providers might not be able, because of vacancies or local or national unavailability of staff, to fulfil the establishment that the board or organisation has deemed to be appropriate and necessary to provide high quality, safe care.

The resourcing associated with the Bill only covers the direct costs - the development and implementation of tools and methodologies and training of staff. It acknowledges that there might be a consequential impact on the demand for staff, but that this will be the responsibility of health boards to manage, and the Scottish Government do not see that there will be an overall increase in costs incurred by health boards.

Introduction

In its Programme for Government 2017/18 4 , the Scottish Government committed to introduce a safe staffing bill during the 2017/18 Parliamentary year to 'deliver on the commitment to enshrine in law the principles of safe staffing in the NHS, starting with the nursing and midwifery workforce planning tools'.

The <u>Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Bill</u> ⁵ (the Bill) seeks to provide a statutory basis for appropriate staffing in health and care settings to enable safe and high quality care.

The Policy Memorandum ³ to the Bill states that it is already 'the duty of every Health Board to workforce plan and to provide high quality care.' That care should already be appropriate for the care requirements of patients is therefore already extant. The Bill makes this an explicit duty and introduces the word 'safe' in relation to services, but does not define what this means. However, in its consultation document, the Scottish Government used the following definition for 'safe':

"**Safe** – There will be no avoidable injury or harm to people from healthcare, and an appropriate, clean and safe environment will be provided for the delivery of healthcare services at all time. ⁶ "

This definition was taken from The Healthcare Quality Strategy for NHS Scotland, published in May 2010. ⁷

The Bill proposes that existing workforce tools, mandated for use by all territorial health boards by the Scottish Government since 2013 will be put on a statutory footing. However,

"The mandate did not include the requirement to apply the results, evidence analysis, or risk assess the impact that the application of the tools and triangulation process has had on decisions relating to staffing levels, assurance that there is safe and effective staffing or development of workforce plans."

Scottish Government, 2017⁸

The Bill seeks to make it more explicit that the analysis resulting from the application of the tools, in addition to better staff involvement, risk-based decision making and senior clinical involvement, is used to ensure better decision-making in relation to staffing across health settings.

The Scottish Government undertook two consultations on the proposals in 2017 ⁹ and 2018. ¹⁰ The first consultation proposed only that the existing nursing and midwifery tools, which are used to establish permanent staffing requirements, be made statutory, and that their application be monitored and reported on. The consultation also proposed to extend this approach to establish staffing levels for other staff groups. An independent analysis of the consultation responses was published ¹¹. While the consultation questions covered health and social care, the proposals were that the legislation should only apply where validated tools were available, in health care settings.

Some respondents to the first consultation considered it unnecessary to extend legislation to social care settings because statutory frameworks are currently in place to ensure safe staffing in social care. That said, respondents did think that the legislation should take full

account of health and social care integration. The proposals were deemed too narrow and there was a fear that focus and resource would be directed to those groups - nurses and midwives - explicitly identified in the legislation. Additionally, the proposals did not consider safe staffing in a system-wide way; in the context of national workforce planning and training numbers, nor in the context of current workforce challenges.

The subsequent consultation ¹⁰ on proposals which took account of earlier responses and focused on how the legislative framework would cohere across health and social care ran for four weeks in February 2018. Respondents felt that any new methodologies should work across health and social care, that there should be flexibility in how new tools were developed, used and reviewed, and that there should be recognition of the challenges faced across sectors in recruiting and retaining staff. Some respondents remained unsupportive of the inclusion of social care.

More detail about the provisions of the Bill are given below, but the above provides some explanation of why the main substance of the Bill pivots on existing nursing and midwifery workforce planning methods, as set out in the Bill, that are applied mainly in acute settings to establish a number and skill mix for permanent workforce needed. There are, however, two tools that cover some community nursing provision, and the maternity tool covers both hospital and community midwifery settings.

Workforce Planning in Health and Care Settings

Workforce planning is conducted at a national and a local (health board/social care provider) level. ⁱⁱ Staffing requirements for health settings and social care settings are assessed and monitored in a variety of ways, and are the responsibility of different bodies.

The Scottish Government has overall responsibility for national health service workforce planning. The Scottish Government decide on the numbers of most health service staff entering training, but not for those entering the allied health professions. The Government also has oversight of recruitment into the health service, and an overview of where pressures are across the professions in terms of availability of qualified staff. Health boards conduct their own workforce or workload planning according to the needs of their own populations, local context and demography. They do this in the context of government-directed policy.

Health Boards conduct their workforce and workload planning according to their duties under 12H and 12I of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 ¹ (the 1978 Act) and are responsible for ensuring appropriate staffing on a day to day basis. Social care staffing is arguably far more complex given the range of settings involved and the range of providers of social care. It is the Care Inspectorate that oversees the safety and quality of care services, and their oversight includes an assessment about whether staffing is appropriate in any given setting. The process of workforce planning in the social care sector is less well-developed nationally because of its very different history and structure.

In the context of the integration of health and social care services into health and social care partnerships (Integration authorities, Integration Joint Boards), it is understood that workforce planning for services will increasingly cross health board and local authority boundaries, via the integration authorities. The Scottish Government has published a National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan in three parts, covering NHS Scotland (Part 1) ¹² social care (Part 2) ¹³ and primary care (Part 3) ¹⁴

Inasmuch as the Bill is concerned with workforce planning issues, it is focused primarily on local workforce planning by health boards, in almost all of the settings (community and acute care) where nurses and midwives are found.

It is hoped that, with more robust and consistent workforce planning locally, and with better availability of data, health boards will be able to assess staffing need more effectively which will, in turn, inform national workforce planning. However, there is nothing in the Bill about the collation or reporting of workforce projection data. The current tools are not designed to project need beyond the current configuration of a ward or service, so it is not clear how this aspiration to link local to national workforce planning would be achieved in relation to this legislation.

In its submission, Audit Scotland ¹⁵ cited its report '*NHS Workforce Planning, the clinical workforce in secondary care, July 2017*' ¹⁶ . One of two recommendations in the report that related directly to safe staffing levels stated that 'NHS Boards should fully cost the

ii For current statistics (not including GPs, most of whom are <u>not</u> directly employed by the NHS) see page 15 of most current (June 2018) ISD NHS Scotland Workforce publication

workforce changes needed to meet policy directives, such as a shift to community-based care, proposed elective centres, safe staffing levels and more regional working.' Further, a number of written submissions (Scotland Excel, Unison, Glasgow City Health and Social Care Partnership, Marie Curie) argue that the Bill is centred on a largely mechanistic solution to workforce planning, which will not lend itself to the flexibility required of services to meet an outcomes-focused agenda.

Some healthcare staffing statistics

According to Part 1 of the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan ¹² there are just under 100,000 staff working within the NHS in Scotland (as at 31 March 2017, and not including administrative staff): 60,000 nurses and midwives (WTEⁱⁱⁱ), 12,000 hospital doctors, 11,500 allied health professionals (such as occupational therapists, radiographers, physiotherapists etc), 5,500 healthcare scientists, 5,000 GPs (headcount not WTE) and 4,000 others such as pharmacists, who are outwith the above categories.

The Bill's scope does *not* cover national workforce planning. Its provisions will not contribute to ensuring that the overall demand for staff of the NHS and Social care sectors will be met. As discussed above, Audit Scotland's view is that there have been no proper assessments made, by either the Government or Health Boards, about the staffing or financial resources required to fulfil the demands of recent and emerging policy directives.

Further, the 'common staffing method' detailed in the Bill (12IB), is related only to the required establishment of staff, *not* the daily and real-time assessment of whether there is appropriate medical and nursing staff in place in community and acute care settings, which is connected with the daily rostering of staff.

Why was better workforce planning required?

Audit Scotland published 'Planned Ward Nursing - Legacy or Design' in 2002, which recommended an approach to workforce planning that included a consideration of quality measures. Following on from this, in 2004 The Scottish Executive's Nursing and Midwifery Workload and Workforce Planning Project produced 20 recommendations to inform the formalisation and rationalisation of nursing and midwifery roles and workload. Underpinning this was improved outcomes for patients, and this aim has remained a constant driver of policy since.

During the course of the development of the tools, and more recently, two major reports linked to patient safety and systemic health service failure were published. The Vale of Leven Inquiry into deaths due to C.Diff infection (2009 - 2014) and the Francis Report (2013) on failures in Mid Staffordshire Hospitals Trust. While these two inquiries were not directly related to the development of the workforce planning project, they contributed significantly to government and health boards' focus on areas such as:

- infection control,
- · better communication between staff,

iii Whole Time Equivalent

iv 'common staffing method' does not appear to have been in use prior to the Bill's introduction

v 'establishment' in this context means the number of permanent nursing or midwifery staff required, as assessed at least annually, for each healthcare setting. Vacancy rates are monitored by NHS ISD based on these establishments.

- · transparency and openness,
- · complaints processes,
- · patient focus and
- · better reporting structures

These are all reflected in health board practices and care quality indicators today.

Additionally, the importance of encouraging to staff to raise issues of concern about patient safety was recognised in the Freedom to Speak Up Report in 2104.

What did the Workload and Workforce Planning Project Produce?

The work of the Nursing and Midwifery Workload and Workforce Planning Programme (NMWWPP) ¹⁷ from 2004 onwards, led to the development, over a number of years, of a set of 12 workforce planning tools for nursing and midwifery, and a method for health boards to decide on an annual basis what the establishment^{vi} should be for each nursing setting. The tools are based on an average workload for each specialty across Scotland, and are supplemented, in a triangulated approach by considering the specifics of local context - for example, the age profile of staff, local recruitment challenges; quality indicators and professional judgement.

vi 'establishment' in this context means the number of permanent nursing or midwifery staff required, as assessed annually, for each healthcare setting. Vacancy rates are monitored by NHS ISD based on these establishments.

Figure 1: NHS Scotland Triangulation Diagram for Workforce Planning

Figure 1 shows the elements that health boards use to decide on the number of nursing and midwifery staff required



Scottish Government

 $(p7 PM)^{3}$

Each tool is designed for a specific setting, as laid out in Section 12IC of the Bill, such as Adult Inpatient, Mental Health and Learning Disability and Paediatric Inpatient. The tools were developed over a number of years to support evidence-based decision making and risk management. The tools use statistical analysis to calculate the whole time equivalent (WTE) required for current workload. This evolved into a staffing method, intended for use across NHS Scotland, which seeks to use a method of triangulation to ensure appropriate staffing levels and comprises the tools themselves, professional judgement, indicators of quality care and a consideration of local context. Only the tool for emergency medicine is multi-disciplinary. This tool covers medical as well as nursing staff.

Two of the 12 tools are designed to be run on a daily basis: for Neonatal and Paediatric wards. However, the data is not examined daily, but collated at the end of the annual (or biannual) reporting period and analysed by the Board's workforce planning staff and senior nurse managers to inform their decisions on ward staffing establishments for the following year.

How do the tools work?

It is important to make the distinction between these tools, used for workforce planning, and analysed on an annual basis, and other software tools used daily by senior charge

nurses and team leaders (eg. SafeCare or the Shelford Group's 'Safer Nursing Care Tool') to ensure that they have safe staffing levels on a day to day basis. The Bill does not cover the use of these daily processes except in the broadest terms in the guiding principles for health and care staffing, set out in Part 1 of the Bill. These guiding principles are 'that the main purpose of staffing for health and social care and care services is to provide safe and high-quality services', and that staffing should be arranged while:

"(i) taking account of the particular needs, abilities, characteristics and circumstances of different service users, (ii) respecting the dignity and rights of service users, (iii) taking account of the views of staff and service users, (iv) ensuring the wellbeing of staff, (v) being open with staff and service users about decisions on staffing, and (vi) allocating staff efficiently and effectively."

Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill [as introduced]Session 5. SPBill 31.Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament, 2018⁵

Annual/Biannual workforce planning within Health Boards

The tools comprise a selection of questionnaire-type processes on a software platform, the Scottish Standard Time System (SSTS)^{vii} which is common to all health boards, and is also used for payroll and expenses services. Most of the tools are run on an annual (or biannual) calendar. This entails that every day for a two week period senior charge nurses and team leaders will run the tools, inputting the data as required by the software. Alongside each specialty tool, the 'professional judgement' tool is also run, and is one of the suite of 12 tools. The results are then analysed and considered alongside quality indicators, professional judgement (senior clinical advice) and certain local factors (health boards use a range of different and additional methods to supplement information derived from the tools) by senior management nursing staff. As a team these staff then decide the optimum staffing establishment for each nursing area across the health board ie each ward in each hospital or community nursing/midwifery setting. This information is shared with the wider senior management team where staffing requirements 'compete' with other board priorities for resources.

SPICe survey on use of the NMWWPP tools

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre has been informed that the tools have not been evaluated or significantly modified since they were created, and that no review has been carried out since 2015. Because no recent evaluation was available, a survey was distributed to nursing and midwifery staff at various levels who are responsible for using or completing the workforce planning tools. 195 responses were received from staff working in eight of the fourteen territorial health boards. Most of the staff c.125 were those who have responsibility for running the tools on an annual or more frequent basis, or who were involved more broadly in the Board's staff planning.

The purpose of the survey was to explore how consistently the tools are used, what training is provided, whether they are deemed fit for purpose, whether they are run at the recommended frequency, how long they take to run, what action was taken as a result of running the tools and how concerns might be raised. It also asked what other means and methods were used to ensure safe staffing levels. Further analysis can be found in separate documents. There is a Summary of the survey findings available. In addition, all of the narrative responses and most of the charts have been extracted to a word document

vii The Scottish Standard Time System (SSTS) is a Crown copyright system that relays information directly from wards/ department, for pay and workforce purposes, providing a range of management information for reporting purposes across the health board.

to make all the anonymised results available. Below are some of the main observations from the survey

- It was clear from some of the responses that staff were not clear about how the information was used after they had completed their tasks of inputting data and observations.
- Many were unsure of how the tools contributed to ensuring that staffing was safe for patients.
- around a third of respondents had not received training on how to use the tools, or had only received ad hoc training from a colleague. There was no consistency in how training was delivered.
- Many respondents did not feel that their wards were staffed to provide safe and effective care and that, regardless of tools or methods, staffing was inadequate
- A range of other methods (eg. SafeCare, Shelford, Risk assessment and staff 'huddles') were used by staff to try to ensure that their ward or area had adequate staff of the right skill mix on a day to day basis
- Some respondents were explicit about problems with specific tools. For example, the Community Nursing Tool, the Midwifery Tool in community settings, the Mental Health and Learning Disability Tool were not helpful in community settings. The perioperative tool duplicated other methods and some tools were very time-consuming to carry out.
- In response to a question about escalation of concerns, responses were mixed. There were a variety of ways that staff could raise concerns, on a day to day basis, but many felt that their concerns were not adequately addressed.

These few points do not do adequately cover the range and detail about the tools and safety in health settings provided in the responses. It is recommended that the Summary and Survey Report are also read.

Social Care Staffing

The social care sector is very disparate in terms of service delivery, governance and structures. Social care for adults viii covers large independent providers based outwith Scotland which run 'care at home' services and care homes, to those run by local authorities, housing associations, third sector organisations or individuals. There is no obvious parallel with health services or health boards. It should be noted that the Bill covers *all* services as listed in section 47(1) of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, including children's services. All such care services are covered by the duties to ensure appropriate staffing and appropriate training for staff, and must have regard to guidance from the Scottish Ministers, issued following consultation. However, only care home services for adults will be subject to Section 82A of the Bill, which covers the development of staffing methods, unless specified in regulations at a later date.

The Financial Memorandum (FM) to the Bill provides a summary of current staffing in social care. It states that, at the end of 2016, 'the social services workforce is the largest public service workforce in Scotland, with 200,650 people in paid employment....This makes up approximately 7.7% of all Scotlish employment.'

"The structure of employment is complex, with the workforce employed in 13,481 active services registered by the Care Inspectorate^{ix}, 42% of workers are employed in the private sector,31% in the public sector and 28% in the third sector. At the end of 2015:"

- 2,644 employers provided care services in Scotland (excluding child-minders, but including children's care services;"
- 1,536 were independent sector organisations;"
- 1,070 were third sector organisations;"
- 80% of service providers employed fewer than 50 people"

The FM ¹⁸ cites research carried out by Scottish Care (an independent care sector representative body) that 'found that 49% of services reported using agency care staff and 33% use agency nursing staff. Services report that they are increasingly relying on agency staff and 5% reported using agency nursing staff all the time. As a result of using agency staff, 80% of staff reported a negative impact on their finances and 56% reported a negative impact on the quality of care.'

At present, care service providers must comply with Regulation 15 of the Social care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Requirements for Care Services) Regulations 2011 ² This makes it a requirement to ensure appropriate numbers of suitably qualified and competent staff for the health, welfare and safety of service users. This Bill does not amend this requirement, but moves it from secondary to primary legislation. The Policy

viii The Bill, under Section 82A - Development of staffing methods, covers 'care home services for adults', which are defined in 82C as care home services provided for those over 18 years. However, in the PM, section 134, it states that 'It is the Scottish Government's intention that care homes for older people would be the first care setting for which a tool is developed'. So this intention is not explicit in the Bill.

ix The Care Inspectorate is the independent regulator of all care and social work services across Scotland, and was formed under Part 5 of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010.

Memorandum argues that this will provide parity and coherence across health and care settings. However, a number of stakeholders (eg. COSLA, SSSC and the Care Inspectorate) ¹⁹ have said that this legislative change is unnecessary, and further, that statutory requirements are already supplemented by the new health and social care standards. ²⁰

Development of National Workforce Planning

The Scottish Government has published a three-part National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan to lay the foundations for improved workforce planning across integrated health and social care services. However, it is important to reiterate that nothing in the Bill relates to national workforce planning, it only relates to duties on Health Boards, and providers of care services and service providers to ensure that appropriate staffing is in place. This should be considered while reading the following section. The Workforce Plan demonstrates the Scottish Government's aspiration for national planning and does not inform the Bill.

Part 1 12 of the Workforce Plan covers NHS Scotland. Part 2 13 covers social care, and was prepared in collaboration with COSLA . Part 3 14 covers primary care.

Part 2 of the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan makes seven recommendations to begin the process of thinking about workforce issues in a more integrated way. The section below lists and explains the recommendations. Most relate to the work required with the health and care sectors, in the context of integration, to start the process of a national workforce planning process.

The recent publication of the Workforce Plan, and the first four of these recommendations indicate that workforce planning in the sector is not highly developed, and that the process at the national level is in its infancy. Understanding of, and data relating to the sector is far behind the NHS in terms of its workforce, workloads and work patterns. For example, we have no way of knowing whether a person is working for one or more home care agencies, as well as/or working in a care home, and possibly also as a personal assistant, nor how the work, pay and conditions might vary from one situation to another.

"Data, analysis, tools and guidance to support workforce planning Recommendation 1: Integrated workforce data • To enable better collation of health and social care workforce data to support national and local workforce planning. This will draw on the work of the Scottish Social Services Council and the Care Inspectorate and take place in alignment with the work being led by NHS Education for Scotland on the NHS Scotland workforce in response to Part 1 of the Plan. The work will contribute to the wider, whole system approach required for health and social care in the future. Recommendation 2: National and local labour market and workforce analysis • To develop our understanding and provide evidence of the interactions between the national and local labour market pressures, the interactions between different parts of the sector and the specific challenges presented by the configuration and location of the current social care workforce. Recommendation 3: Workforce planning guidance for partnership working • To develop guidance for Integration Joint Boards and their commissioning partners in local authorities and NHS boards that supports partnership working for the formulation of workforce plans at regional and local level that include consideration of the third and independent sector workforce. This work will aim to:

- engage with third and independent sector employers and/or their representative organisations, and trade unions;
- support and facilitate alignment of local workforce plans with associated commissioning and financial plans;"
- make use of the work delivered under recommendation 2 above, to develop improved understanding and awareness of the impact of market mechanisms in social care; to develop approaches through which workforce planning can take these mechanisms into account in contributing to the delivery of improved outcomes for those who use services."

Recommendation 4: Workforce planning tools • To progress and co-produce social care and multi-disciplinary workforce planning tools that support the delivery of high quality care that reflects the new health and social care standards, and enable service redesign and new models of care. In developing this work, we will take account of progress with planned Scottish Government legislation that includes a focus on tools and methodology to inform and support workforce planning, starting with nursing and midwifery in the NHS. ¹³ Part 2 of the National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan"

In 2016, the Scottish Government commissioned research into recruitment and retention in the social services workforce that showed that the social service sector use a variety of approaches to workforce planning. COSLA and other stakeholders claim that innovation and flexibility will be stifled in the sector in these areas in particular, as well as more generally. Some stakeholders believe that any measures that seek to impose methodologies on such a diverse sector will remove the capacity for flexibility in how staff are deployed and, if more staff are deemed to be necessary without further resource, then some provision could become financially unsustainable, so increasing pressure on services further. These concerns are covered in more detail below and in many of the individual submissions. (eg. Borders IJB and Council, NHS Orkney, SPDS, East Ayrshire IJB, Marie Curie, CCPS, Chief Officers Group)

"At a time when commissioners and providers are looking to deliver innovative models of care for the 21st century which are tailored to changing demographic, different client needs, current financial challenges and to emerging technology, our concern is that legislation would be prescriptive and stifle innovation. Conversely, if the legislation has no impact on models of care then, as above, it is not clear what added value this Bill will have. Innovative approaches are required to ensure we have the appropriate staff to provide high quality care. The Care Inspectorate has been working with care homes that have sought to change their staffing and skill mix, for example by upskilling senior carers in care homes to ensure stable yet flexible staff teams. Legislating for the use of a tool to provide staffing levels that is regulated by the Care Inspectorate could impede the progress completed to date. COSLA submission ¹⁹ "

Governance and regulation of health and social care services

The Care Inspectorate ^x (CI) is the regulator for registered care services across Scotland, and the scrutiny and improvement body for social work. The CI inspects care services and social work services. It was created under Part 5 of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 ²¹. It undertakes inspections of care services to ensure that they comply with relevant legislation. Services must register with the Care Inspectorate and this registration can be refused or revoked if standards fall below an acceptable level. However, the Care Inspectorate, where it can, should seek to enable and encourage improvement of a service, before issuing a more formal improvement notice. If registration is refused or revoked a service cannot legally run. The Care Inspectorate can also seek an emergency cancellation of registration through the Sheriff court. ²²

Inspections of care services (since July 2018) evaluate the quality of the service across key areas like people's wellbeing, staffing, leadership, the setting and care planning. ²³

There is no single equivalent independent body that regulates and inspects health services in this way, although Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS), a non-territorial health board that was created by the same legislation as the Care Inspectorate ²⁴, does do inspection work in NHS hospitals. Its focus is on safety and cleanliness, and, since 2016, HIS registers independent health settings such as private hospitals and clinics. One of its other key functions is to provide and embed quality assurance, with the aim of supporting Health Boards to improve quality through evidence-based research and practice. For some years, HIS and the CI have carried out joint inspections of integrated health and social care services.

Both bodies use the new Health and Social Care Standards ²⁰ in their scrutiny and improvement work. These have been in place since April 2018. The headline outcomes for the standards are that individuals:

- 1. experience high quality care and support that is right for them
- 2. am fully involved in all decisions about their care and support

x The Care Inspectorate's formal name is Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (SCSWIS), and it is this legal name that is used in the Bill. Care providers more widely recognise the organisation as 'the Care Inspectorate'.

- 3. have confidence in the people who support and care for them
- 4. have confidence in the organisation providing their care and support
- 5. experience a high quality environment if the organisation provides the premises

Under these headings are more detailed outcomes and expectations that everyone should have or expect from a health or care service. The Standards are intended to be wide reaching and flexible. They are focused on the individual experiences of people using services, and are underpinned by the principles of: dignity and respect; compassion; being included; responsive care and support; wellbeing.^{xi}

A significant number of submissions to the Committee's Call for Views were received from third sector organisations (eg MS Society, Marie Curie, Chest Heart Stroke, Inclusion Scotland). Their concerns centred on the impact of the Bill on people who use services, although not exclusively so. Inclusion Scotland state that reference to co-production is missing in the Bill, and that this approach to all health and social care legislation is underpinned by the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 ²⁶ and The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 ²⁷ . Inclusion Scotland's submission ²⁸ make reference to Audit Scotland's NHS in Scotland 2017 report which states that: ²⁹

"NHS boards have had legal duties to involve the public in designing services for a number of decades. More recently, the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 also placed duties on Integration Authorities. The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 (the Act) marked a significant shift in the Scottish Government's expectations of how the Scottish public should be involved in decisions that affect them. NHS boards, integration authorities, and local authorities all have legal duties placed on them by the Act."

xi It should be noted however that the CI is unable to investigate complaints about social work decisions or contracting with a care service. ²⁵

What does the Bill aim to do?

The legislative context

The primary legislative context for the Bill are sections 12H and 12I of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 ¹ which place a duty on NHS Boards to put and keep in place arrangements to monitor and improve the quality of health care they provide and to improve the management of the workforce and workforce planning. The National Workforce Planning Framework and the 2005 Guidance that accompanied it established how the requirement to workforce plan would be met. Revised guidance was issued in 2011, setting out high level steps for health boards to consider and follow.

As described in earlier sections, a less direct legislative context is provided by the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 ²¹ and the Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Requirements for Care Services) Regulations 2011 ²²

However, the Policy Memorandum ³ asserts that:

"the general appropriate staffing duty in the Bill sets out more specific requirements – effectively 'levelling up' requirements on Health Boards to broadly mirror existing requirements on care service providers, making more explicit the requirements around the staffing element of workforce planning. PM ³ "

It is not clear how or if this will happen in practice, or what it will actually mean, given the very specific duties regarding registration and regulation that the Care Inspectorate have under the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act ²¹. These duties, which state which actions and sanctions are available to the Care Inspectorate, are not reflected in the duties and role of Healthcare Improvement Scotland or any other body in relation to health boards.

Despite the formation of integration authorities to direct resources and plan health and care services for their populations, they are not employers, so workforce planning effectively remains the responsibility of health boards and local authorities, which have to ensure that appropriate staffing is in place to provide those delegated services.

The driving policy direction for the Bill is to ensure 'the right people in the right place at the right time to deliver sustainable, high quality services with improved outcomes for the people who use services, irrespective of health or care setting' ³. It is the intention that the requirements on Health Boards related to workforce planning will flow through to Integration Authorities in respect of delegated functions and services. However, as the Royal College of Anaesthetists highlights, 'By not being designated as the employer, the Integration Authority may be limited in its control over staffing decisions'. ^{xii}Unison also raises questions about accountability and oversight when it might not be wholly clear which party - the commissioner of services (IJB), the Care Inspectorate or the provider of services - has the responsibility for compliance ²⁸

xii Integrated Joint Boards do not directly employ staff who deliver services, these staff remain employed by either the Health Board or the local authority.

"Given the fragmentation of delivery of care services the question of who the designated person with responsibility for ensuring safe staffing levels – and how they are reported is a serious one. This is particularly the case when rather than being provided directly care provision is commissioned from a third party. Who would be responsible for measurement (of staffing levels) – the private care provider or the IJB/Council commissioning the care? This relates to the issues outlined earlier about the possibility of the legislation being ignored. Whilst there is obviously a wide variety of standards - it has not been our experience that detailed measures enforcing contract compliance has been a great speciality of commissioning bodies in Scotland. If this Bill is to be considered under that rubric it is more than possible that its intentions will not be realised. UNISON ³⁰ "

Legal sanctions/negligence

There are no legal sanctions mentioned in the Bill, nor does it cover what happens if the statutory duties are not met. However, the PM (S.89) states that compliance will sit with organisations not individuals, and that monitoring will occur through existing local and national reporting and regulatory mechanisms. ³

This means that an individual could not easily use the legislation to seek legal redress/compensation in an instance where they felt that unsafe staffing had led to a bad outcome for them.

The law of negligence requires that, where a person or body behaves negligently, they have an obligation to pay compensation to anyone who suffers harm as a direct result. Breach of a statutory duty can form the basis of a claim for negligence, but the law in this area is not clear.

Legislation may specifically include or exclude the possibility of raising court action for negligence as a result of breach of a statutory duty. However, the Bill is silent on this matter. In this case, it is up to the courts to decide whether it was the intention of the legislature to allow individuals to take court action on the basis of the duty. This is less likely – but by no means impossible – if the duty is placed on a public body.

Committee Call for views on the Bill

Many of the concerns raised when the Scottish Government first consulted in 2017 remain.

¹¹ However, the Committee's Call for Views provides a comprehensive range of observations, questions and concerns about the Bill. Some of the key, general issues are raised here. These and others will emerge through the Committee's scrutiny work over the coming weeks.

General Principles

Most submissions to the Committee's Call for Views were supportive of the guiding principles of the Bill. Scottish Borders Council/Integrated Joint Board stated that 'The guiding principles for staffing are laudable. No-one is likely to take issue with a main purpose aimed at providing 'safe and high quality services' ²⁸

Many submissions endorsed the intentions of the Bill to introduce a consistent approach to safety and quality across Scotland, and across health and social care. Most also expressed the view that to make staff involvement and engagement in the process a requirement was a very positive aspect of the Bill.

"The intentions of the Bill are admirable and use of a standardised and robust approach across Scotland should support decision making to be more transparent and to allow comparison...there is an opportunity for staff to be more widely engaged in reviewing safe staffing levels. NHS Avrshire and Arran ²⁸ "

This was supplemented by third sector submissions that called for a greater degree of involvement from those who used services and from their representatives. This was, as discussed above, considered to be more in the spirit of the co-production agenda (eg Inclusion Scotland, The Alliance). However, this is not a Bill about patient or service user rights.

With reference to the guiding principles (Part 1), The Law Society said:

"The guiding principles are unobjectionable, but so general and multi-factorial as to leave plenty of scope for subjective judgement and the inevitable juggling of competing priorities....and it would be difficult to challenge a decision of a health or care service provider on the basis of these. ²⁸ "

Some (RCN, NHS Orkney) ²⁸ believe that this section is weakened by a lack of definition in relation to terms such as 'appropriate' and 'safe':

"The perception of what is safe and what has been agreed may differ and we need to ensure that this doesn't in turn become an area of tension between staff and managers'(NHS Orkney). ²⁸ "

Most submissions said little about Part 1 of the Bill and instead focused on Parts 2 and 3. As the Law Society goes on to state:

"The principles and duties are used to set the scene for the real point of the Bill which is the requirement that the Bill imposes on Health Boards and care service providers to follow particular staffing methods that are to be prescribed in regulations by the Scottish Ministers"

Is the Bill limited in its scope?

In terms of legislative scope, it is important to note that this Bill is about staffing and workload planning, not wider workforce planning to ensure adequate supply of staff to meet the future requirements for staff in health and social care as dictated by the broader policy agenda. The Bill is chiefly concerned, the guiding principles notwithstanding, with workforce and workload planning in limited circumstances.

The majority of submissions were concerned that the Bill, while laudable in its principles, was being introduced into a workforce context that is under pressure from general recruitment and retention problems nationally. Lack of availability of staff, and short supply in many health professions, as well as in the social care sector, means that it is challenging to meet the requirements and staffing establishments currently set by Health

Boards and social care providers. Health Boards and providers are concerned about what support will be available to them when factors affecting the staff available may be outside their control. (eg.Scotland Excel, Scottish Executive Nurse Directors' Group, Cancer Research UK, NHS Tayside, Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh, Scottish Borders Council, NHS Ayrshire and Arran). The impact of Brexit in creating more pressures on recruitment and retention was also raised (eg. The Brain Tumour Charity).

"Placing workforce planning tools on a statutory footing does nothing to address recruitment and resourcing issues in the health and social care service and among providers. Scottish Borders Council and IJB 28 "

Another significant criticism on the scope of the Bill was that it was seeking to address two things with one approach and one set of tools: ensuring that the retrospective results delivered by current tools delivered an appropriate staffing establishment but also to ensure that staffing was safe on a day to day basis. The current tools are not designed to provide information for day to day adjustments. The SPICe staff survey highlighted a range of methods (or none) that were used on a daily basis that were sensitive to actual risk and immediate patient acuity. The Bill appears to conflate the two very different exercises that Health Boards undertake to make health settings safe in staffing terms.

"The Bill is trying to do two different things using one set of tools. The common method describes a distinct process which uses the extant tools to do the finance / workforce planning for the establishment setting on an annual basis. The day to day review of staffing requires a different approach to provide an assessment of the right number of nursing staff with the right knowledge, skills and experience, in the right place at the right time in real time and appropriate tools such as the SafeCare Tool, used by NHS Lothian, which applies a twice (or three times) daily census of patient acuity to the available staffing determine the extent to which patient needs can be met and allows senior decision makers to deploy the resources to the optimum. Other factors to bear in mind:

- Those tools used only annually are not familiar to staff "
- Those tools used annually do not consistently deliver outputs useful to the planning cycle (as may not be used / reported on at a time that feeds the planning or financial cycles)"
- Some tools (Community, Perioperative, Emergency Department) are extremely time consuming and staff are unwilling to participate "
- The perception of what is safe and what has been agreed may differ and we need to ensure that this doesn't in turn become an area of tension between staff and managers."

NHS Lothian 28 "

Audit Scotland raised the matter of supplementary staffing; the use of agency, bank and locum staff to manage day to day staffing shortages. The PM asserts that if the tools were used consistently and properly, the need for supplementary staff would decrease. There is no funding associated with the Bill to address any rise in staffing costs that result from the Bill's requirements.

" it is anticipated that as a result of application of the robust approach to planning staff resource requirements described in the Bill the need for supplementary staffing will reduce significantly 3 "

Audit Scotland says that there are risks associated with additional staffing costs:

"The Scottish Government and NHS Boards have already been looking to reduce supplementary staffing costs, but these costs continue to rise. As we reported, in December 2015, the Scottish Government launched the Managed Agency Staff Network (MASNet). It aimed to reduce agency spending and improve the arrangements NHS boards have for managing, monitoring and reviewing agency staff needs. Nursing agency costs have risen from £4.2 million in 2011/12 to £24.5 million in 2016/17, in real terms. Since our audit, the 2017/18 figures have been published showing nursing agency costs have fallen slightly to £23.6 million. Given there is a current requirement to apply staffing tools to determine numbers, it is unclear to what extent better use of existing staff resources will reduce these agency costs, or how this will be achieved. We highlight in our report that agency costs are putting pressure on NHS Boards' pay budgets and that workforce projections are not reflecting demand pressures. We also report NHS staff survey information which shows that around a third of staff surveyed felt there were not enough staff to do their job properly. ¹⁵ "

Audit Scotland goes on to raise concerns associated with the risk of increasing vacancies, and what measures Health Boards and social care providers, who also require nursing staff, should take if the rise continues. The National Health Workforce Plan acknowledges that for the next few years the numbers of student nurses and midwives entering the workforce will not be enough to meet demand. Further, Audit Scotland says that 'the Scottish Government has not fully incorporated future demand for healthcare and the impact of retirements from and ageing workforce' ¹²

Is the Bill necessary?

A number of submissions pointed out that the Bill will duplicate statutory requirements that already pertain across health and social care.

"The proposals risk duplicating existing statutory requirements to ensure appropriate workload and workforce planning for health and social care and social work. Existing requirements (that) are enhanced by the National Health and Social Care Standards ²⁰ Scottish Borders Council and IJB ²⁸ "

With a focus on process, mainly acute settings and 'mechanistic' tools, there is a fear that the outcomes based service planning that has underpinned the integration of health and social care so far, will be undermined by the Bill, not least by how it is structured.

"The Bill is split between Part 2 referring to health care settings and Part 3 referring to social care settings. This separation appears to be at odds with the integrated landscapes in which the services delivered by IJBs operate within. Aberdeenshire IJB 28 "

Many submissions pointed out that, while the Bill is seeking to introduce conformity and consistency across the health and social care fields, and that it is bringing inspection and support functions together by the joint working of HIS and the CI, it does not recognise the very different landscapes of health settings and social care provision. The latter is delivered by a broad range of providers (private, voluntary and local authority) in very variable settings ranging from a large care home to someone's flat.

Multi-disciplinary teams, integration of health and social care and skewing of resource

Related to the preceding concern that the Bill does not recognise how differently the health and social care sectors operate, and how differently they are governed and regulated: most submissions said that the focus in Part 2 on existing tools for nursing and midwifery would lead to a focus by Health Boards, in terms of resource and wider planning, on these professions at the expense of other health professionals, and particularly other settings and contexts.

Since the tools were developed, integration of health and social care, as well as policies and resourcing pressures requiring the redesign of many services, now means that the tools are less applicable. Further, because for many other health professions, such as Physiotherapists, Anaesthetists and Clinical Nurse Specialists for example, the tasks they undertake are increasingly about individualised patient outcomes, it would be very challenging to develop tools based upon observational studies of workload/tasks (personal communication with Health Board staff member).

Other settings, where the tools are not used, might also be at risk of being overlooked. For example, workforce planning tools are not used in all settings even where nurses work' or might work, such as in prison healthcare, sexual health, addiction services, hospital to/at home services and hospices for example

- "The use of staffing tools is currently limited to those already developed, mainly within nursing models. (T)his is unrepresentative of many integrated services which utilise skills across a multi-disciplinary team. It is unclear how such an integrated environment can be viewed as safely staffed if only one part of this team is represented in that assessment Aberdeenshire IJB ²⁸ "
- "Workforce planning methods (staffing methods) hav(e) only a partial, or distorting impact in multi-disciplinary teams within integration authorities. This will have the paradoxical effect of undermining integration. NHS Ayrshire and Arran ²⁸ "

xiii From the staff survey carried out on the tools, it is clear that a number: Community Nursing Tool, the Midwifery Tool in the community setting, the Mental Health and Learning Disability Tool (Community setting), the perioperative tool and the Emergency Care Tool do not function well.

The Bill itself - Part 1 - Guiding Principles for Staffing

The Bill is in four parts. Part 1 sets out the guiding principles for health and care staffing. The first principle is that staffing is in place to provide 'safe and high quality services'. It is important to note that this part spans the health and care services landscape, and all the staff within it, and refers to all health settings and all care settings registered by the Care Inspectorate. The intention is to create a coherent legislative framework across sectors through these guiding principles. There are then a set of six principles that health boards and care providers must have regard to when planning staffing:

"(i) taking account of the particular needs, abilities, characteristics and circumstances of different service users, (ii) respecting the dignity and rights of service users, (iii) taking account of the views of staff and service users, (iv) ensuring the well being of staff, (v) being open with staff and service users about decisions on staffing, and (vi) allocating staff efficiently and effectively."

The Scottish Government hopes that the inclusion of these principles will 'mitigate the risk highlighted by the initial consultation that resources may be diverted away from staff groups and settings not covered by existing workload and staffing tools.' p21, Policy Memorandum 3 .

Sections 2 and 3 set out the duties on Health Boards, local authorities and integration authorities when they are commissioning services. Health Board commissioners must have regard to the guiding principles in ensuring that appropriate staffing is in place. Local authorities and integration authorities must have regard to the guiding principles and the duties relating to staffing imposed on those providing care services.

What about integration of health and social care?

There is a clear distinction between health and social care sectors in the Bill, the former driven by the 1978 Act and the latter by Regulation 15 of the Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Requirements for Care Services) Regulations 2011 ² and, in reality the structures of the sectors bear little comparison. However, there is an attempt in the Bill to take account of the integration of health and social care through the 'guiding principles outlined in Part 1, section 1, as listed above (as well as seeking to bring the roles of the CI and HIS closer together, and by introducing the potential for staff planning tools in the social care sector).

The guiding principles are, according to the PM, aligned with the existing 31 planning principles for health and social care integration as set out in the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 27 . Statutory Guidance 32 has also been issued on how these principles should be applied. These guiding principles are also aligned with those underpinning the new health and social care standards 20

The new health and social care standards principles are:

- · Dignity and respect
- Compassion

- · Be included
- · Responsive care and support
- Wellbeing

Part 2 - Staffing in the NHS

Part 2 of the Bill seeks to amend Section 12I of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 ¹ These provisions extend and provide more detail to the duties on health boards concerning staff governance and workforce planning. Under the 1978 Act, ¹ it is the duty of health boards to 'put and keep in place arrangements for the purposes of—

- (a) improving the management of the officers employed by it;
- (b) monitoring such management; and
- (c) workforce planning.'

The amendments to the 1978 Act contained in Part 2 of the Bill provide detail on the 'common staffing method'.

As explained in the 'Workforce Planning in Health Settings' section, Part 2 of the Bill has most detail on the proposed common staffing method which is based upon the existing nursing and midwifery tools. The modified staff planning method now includes additional requirements that:

- staff are engaged in the process and informed of outcomes
- · transparent risk-based prioritisation and decision making is carried out
- there is the provision of senior clinical professional advice (in addition to use of the Professional Judgement tool)

Figure 2 to demonstrate the 'common staffing method'

This diagram illustrates the 'common staffing method' proposed in the Bill that health boards would use in planning their workforce. The elements of the current 'triangulation' method for workforce planning are now along the bottom layer of the triangle. The additional requirements, in the layer above, leads to then to the apex of the triangle - appropriate staffing to provide safe, high quality care.



Scottish Government PM Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill - Policy Memorandum, 2018³

The method used, and tabulated in the Bill (see Table on page 4 of the Bill) ⁵, currently refers to the types of health care and employees that are already covered by existing workforce planning tools, and which are part of the existing 'triangulated approach' to workforce planning . However, the legislation will not only cover employees currently listed - registered nurses and midwives and doctors in emergency departments, but those staff members who are carrying out duties delegated by registered nurses and midwives and, in the case of Emergency Care, medical practitioners.

The Bill, if enacted, could be amended by regulations to further extend provision/s to cover other staff and other health care settings or services.

The Policy Memorandum $(p19)^3$ states that the intention is for the general 'appropriate staffing' duty to 'level up' requirements such that there is equivalence in requirements not only across the health and care sectors but also with regard to all staff providing care, such as allied health professionals and medical practitioners. As has already been stated, it is not clear how this intention will be achieved by the Bill.

As noted earlier, concerns have been raised that the Policy Memorandum ³ appears to conflate the two aspects of workforce planning and deployment, namely how many staff should be included in the permanent establishment, as identified by following the triangulated approach, and the more reactive rostering and risk assessment that occurs daily or several times a day on most wards. These real-time assessments are essential to take account of exceptional sickness absence, higher than planned-for acuity of patients,

redeployment of staff to other areas, or other immediate contingencies that arise on a daily basis. The 'common staffing method', and therefore the Bill, does not explicitly address the issue of immediate staffing pressures. These pressures and gaps in staffing can occur despite the tools having been applied rigorously.

Part 3 - Staffing in Care Services

Part 3 of the Bill aims to enable the social care sector to build on the existing mechanisms contained in Regulation 15 of the Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Requirements for Care Services) Regulations 2011 ². It provides a function for the Care Inspectorate to lead the development and validation of methodologies and workload and workforce planning tools, in collaboration with the sector, to be used in care home for adult settings where necessary (PM para. 86) ³. It also places the general 'appropriate staffing' duty on care service providers (Section 6), giving them an equivalent responsibility to Health Boards. The PM states that:

"The purpose of including care services in the legislation is to enable the sector to build on and strengthen existing mechanisms by placing Regulation 15 into primary legislation and creating a cohesive legislative framework across health and care settings. p.26 ³ "

However, the move from secondary to primary legislation of this requirement makes no difference in legal terms. The Bill places no (additional) sanctions on either sector, and it does not deal with the regulatory background. What the Bill does demonstrate however, by seeking to introduce some equivalence between the health and care sectors, is how different they are in legal and regulatory terms, in addition to their profound differences in structure, governance and organisation. Aspects of these differences were raised in most submissions that commented on Part 3.

Part 3 of The Bill seeks to provide:

- A power for the Care Inspectorate to work in consultation with the care sector to develop staffing methods. Initially this will only be for care homes for adults; "
- A regulation-making power for the Scottish Ministers to enable the Care Inspectorate's power to be extended to other care settings in the future, if the need arises; "
- A regulation-making power for the Scottish Ministers to require the use of any staffing methods developed by the Care Inspectorate; "
- The ability for Scottish Ministers to issue guidance to care service providers setting out further detail around the duties contained within the Bill."

para.130 PM ³

Part 3 of the Bill does not provide any detail on how the methodologies and workforce planning practices should be developed. The Care Inspectorate will lead the work to develop the methodologies in collaboration with the sector. At this stage, the Bill only covers the development of workforce planning methods for care homes.

Part 4 - General Provisions

Part 4 of the Bill contains the General Provisions relating to modification of the Act, if passed, by regulations, which would be subject to affirmative procedures (if the text of the legislation is amended) or negative procedures otherwise.

It also covers Commencement details. Part 4, Sections 12 (ancillary provision) and 14 (Short title) commence on the day after Royal Assent is granted. The remainder of the Bill would come into force on days named by the Scottish Ministers in regulations. A number of submissions, including the Law Society, highlight that the Bill lacks clarity in a number of areas, which would need to be prescribed through regulations or clarified in guidance.

"the real point of the Bill (which) is the requirement that the Bill imposes on Health Boards and care service providers to follow particular staffing methods that are to be prescribed in regulations by the Scottish Ministers. All detail on how to achieve 'appropriate staffing' will be in these regulations. The Law Society ²⁸ "

Monitoring and Enforcement

It is not clear what will happen if a health board or social care provider does not meet the duties set out in the Bill. Health Boards and social care providers might not be able, because of vacancies or local or national unavailability of staff, to fulfil the establishment that the board or organisation has deemed to be appropriate and necessary to provide high quality, safe care. Health Boards would either have to redesign the particular service or reduce the number of beds available to that service; which could mean the same thing. Almost all submissions raised the issue of scope: if the Bill does nothing to address supply and availability of trained staff, then Boards and social care providers alike would find it extremely difficult to meet the duties which would be placed upon them by the Bill. (For specific examples of effects on patients of a shortage of radiologists, see Cancer Research UK submission. ²⁸)

Social Care providers are regulated in a different way. They already have a duty to ensure that there are enough appropriately trained staff within a service registered with the Care Inspectorate, and appropriate staffing of services is assessed by the Care Inspectorate.

It is also not clear what would happen if a health board does not adhere to the results from applying the common staffing method. In reality it appears that the requirement to provide appropriate staffing at all times and in all instances must be balanced by the Board against all other clinical, statutory or financial priorities. The lack of clarity around compliance is highlighted above and in a number of the written submissions (eg Royal College of Psychiatrists, NHS Orkney, Royal Blind, RCPE)

Healthcare Improvement Scotland

NHS Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS), which provides public assurance of quality and safety of healthcare through advice, guidance, support and standards has been commissioned by the Scottish Government to develop specific quality measures for nursing and midwifery as part of the Excellence in Care Programme. It is likely that HIS will develop the future staff planning tools for health care settings. Most Independent Health Clinics are required to register with Healthcare Improvement Scotland.

As has been explained under the social care staffing section, care services are rigorously and explicitly monitored by the Care Inspectorate. Certain requirements, including appropriate staffing, are already a condition of registration of a care service. The Care Inspectorate also has an improvement and support function and, in practice, will work constructively with providers to achieve the required standards of registration.

Both the Care Inspectorate and Healthcare Improvement Scotland take the new Health and Social Care Standards ²⁰ (from April 1 2018) into account in relation to their inspections, scrutiny and registration processes.

There is a short sub-section (12IE) in Part 2 of the Bill on 'Reporting on Staffing'. This states that after the end of each financial year, boards must report on how they have carried out their duties under three preceding subsections: (12IA)'Duty to ensure appropriate staffing'; (12IB) 'Duty to follow common staffing method' and (12ID) 'Training and consultation of staff'. The PM says that in practice reporting will be done through existing annual reporting mechanisms. (para 124) and through existing local and national

reporting and regulatory mechanisms and HIS and the Care Inspectorate scrutiny processes. (para 89) $^{\rm 3}$

Resources and Finance

The Financial Memorandum(FM) sets out the costs associated with the Bill. Scrutiny will be undertaken across the Health and Sport Committee's upcoming evidence sessions. This section briefly summarises what additional funding will support the implementation of the Bill.

The FM acknowledges that health boards face difficulties in filling vacancies because of the shortage of available staff, and that the Bill does not directly address those shortages. However, it is hoped that the legislative requirement to apply the existing tools will improve board projections on future staffing requirements. In both the FM and the PM, there is reference to the high costs of supplementary staffing required to meet short-term needs by health boards. It is not clear how the provisions of the Bill will address the use of supplementary staff (or the shortage of available staff and vacancies), assuming that the tools have been used by health boards since 2013.

The resourcing associated with the Bill only covers the direct costs - the development and implementation of tools and methodologies and the training of staff in their use. It acknowledges that there might be a consequential impact on the demand for staff, but that this will be the responsibility of health boards to manage, and the Scottish Government do not see that there will be an overall increase in costs incurred by health boards. There is an assumption that health boards will have to consider the of redesign services in order to reconcile staffing, high quality care and finance issues.

The Summary of Costs (Table 1 in the FM) covers the direct costs associated with the Bill, some of which are already incurred by health boards (staff training) or the Scottish administration (Nursing and Midwifery workforce planning tools infrastructure and maintenance, IT updates etc). For up to three years there will be additional funding for boards to support staff training (£664,430 assuming that 50% of Band 7 nurses will be trained) and to fund 16 new nurse managers to apply, collate, analyse and report information from the nursing and midwifery tools (£931,469 in 2019-20, with half that amount being provided in the immediately preceding and proceeding years) However, there appears to be no new funding to review and improve the existing tools.

As for developing new workforce planning tools, the Nursing and Midwifery Workforce Planning Project estimates that to develop and implement a new tool costs £538,185. The FM allows for the development of one new tool per year for the next six years, with additional funding to cover the Planning Project's infrastructure and expansion within NHS Healthcare Improvement Scotland (11 new posts). How a new tool is developed is covered in Table 2 of the FM. The costs covered above are only to develop new tools in the health care sector.

There are no national workforce planning tools within the care sector currently. The Care Inspectorate will be given the function to lead work with stakeholders to develop a tool or methodology for care homes for adults initially, if one is deemed necessary. In order to assess the evidence of need for a tool, £50,000 has been allocated in 2019-20 for commissioned research and analysis. Funding for six staff within the Care Inspectorate is outlined in Table 7 of the FM, who will support tool and methodology development, with costs given from 2020 to 2024. Further support is outlined for provider training as well as additional inspector support for engagement and inspection training.

It is also anticipated that providers will incur costs through their involvement in tool and methodology development (£200,000 per year for three years across the care sector), as well as for staff training (£150,000 per year for two years across the care sector). These estimates have been included in the cost summary (Table 1 in FM).

The Financial Memorandum acknowledges that there is much more uncertainty in the financial implications of developing tools and methodologies in the care sector because there is no precedent, and because there are currently few, if any, parallels between the structures of the health and care sectors.

Bibliography

- National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978. (1978). [accessed August 2018]
- The Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (Requirements for Care Services) Regulations 2011. (2011). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/sdsi/2011/9780111011959/regulation/15 [accessed August 2018]
- Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill Policy Memorandum. (2018, May). Retrieved from http://www.parliament.scot/ Health%20and%20Care%20(Staffing)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/SPBill31PMS052018.pdf
- Scottish Government. (2017, September). A Nation with Ambition. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/09/8468 [accessed August 2018]
- Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill [as introduced]Session 5. SPBill 31.Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament. (2018, May). Retrieved from http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/Bills/108486.aspx [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2017, April). Consultation on proposals to enshrine safe staffing in law..... Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Resource/0051/00516603.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2010, May). The Healthcare Quality Strategy for Scotland. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2010/05/10102307/8 [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2017). Consultation Document. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/ Resource/0051/00516603.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2018, April). Consultation Safe and Effective Staffing in Health and Social Care. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/04/1188/1 [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2018, May). Discussion Document further consultation. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2018/05/6645 [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2018, January). Independent analysis of consultation responses. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/12/5851 [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2017, June). National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan Part 1 - a framework for improving workforce planning across NHS Scotland. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/06/1354 [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2017, December). National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan -Part 2 - a framework for improving workforce planning for social care in Scotland. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/12/2984 [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2018, April). National Health and Care Workforce Plan Part 3 Improving workforce planning for primary care in Scotland. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2018/04/3662 [accessed August 2018]

- Scottish Parliament Health and Sport Committee. (2018, July). Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill Written Submissions: Audit Scotland. Retrieved from http://committees/s5HS/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/s5HS/PrimaryLeg/Health%20and%20Care%20(Staffing)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/Call%20for%20views/Formatted%20submissions/HS-S5-18-HCSS-19%20Audit%20Scotland.pdf&action=default [accessed August 2018]
- Audit Scotland. (2017, July). NHS workforce planning: The clinical workforce in secondary care. Retrieved from http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2017/nr_170727_nhs_workforce.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- NHS Scotland Information Services Division (ISD). (n.d.) Nursing and Midwifery Workload and Workforce Planning Programme. Retrieved from http://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Workforce/Nursing-and-Midwifery/NMWWP/ [accessed August 2018]
- Health and Care (Staffing)(Scotland) Bill. Financial Memorandum SP Bill 31 FM. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliament. (2018, May). Retrieved from http://www.parliament.scot/Health%20and%20Care%20(Staffing)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/SPBill31FMS052018.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Parliament Health and Sport Committee. (2018, July). Submissions. COSLA. Retrieved from http://committees/s5HS/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/s5HS/PrimaryLeg/Health%20and%20Care%20(Staffing)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/Call%20for%20views/Formatted%20submissions/HS-S5-18-HCSS-45%20COSLA.pdf&action=default [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2017, June). Health and Social Care Standards. Retrieved from http://www.newcarestandards.scot/ [accessed August 2018]
- Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010.. (2010). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2010/8/part/5 [accessed August 2018]
- The Care Inspectorate. (2017, December). Useful Information for registered care providers. Retrieved from http://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/4193/Useful%20information%20for%20registered%20care%20service%20providers.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Care Inspectorate. (2018, July). Quality Framework for Care Homes for Older People. Retrieved from http://www.careinspectorate.com/images/Professionals/ Quality_framework_for_care_homes_for_older_people_2018.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010. (2010). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2010/8/section/108 [accessed August 2018]
- Care Inspectorate. (2017). How we deal with concerns and complaints about care services p3. Retrieved from http://www.careinspectorate.com/images/documents/4107/ How%20we%20deal%20with%20concerns%20and%20complaints.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act. (2015). Retrieved from http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/6/contents/enacted
- Public Bodies (Joint Working) Act 2014. (2014). Retrieved from http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/section/4/enacted

- Scottish Parliament. Health and Sport Committee. (2018, July). Written submissions. Retrieved from http://committees/s5HS/PrimaryLeg/Forms/
 AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2Fs5HS%2FPrimaryLeg%2FHealth%20and%20Care%20%28
 Staffing%29%20%28Scotland%29%20Bill%2FCall%20for%20views%2FFormatted%20sub missions&FolderCTID=0x01200038C5B15021D5C249896E9B893BC7BFBC&View=%7BA 9C70853-1BD5-4E0B-8644-0503FA624848%7D#InplviewHasha9c70853-1bd5-4e0b-8644-0503fa624848=RootFolder%3D%252Fs5HS%252FPrimaryLeg%252FHealth%2520and%2 520Care%2520%2528Staffing%2529%2520%2528Scotland%2529%2520Bill%252FCall% 2520for%2520views%252FFormatted%2520submissions-FolderCTID%3D0x01200038C5B15021D5C249896E9B893BC7BFBC [accessed August 2018]
- Audit Scotland. (2017, October). NHS in Scotland overview report 2017. Retrieved from http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2017/nr_171026_nhs_overview.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- 30 Scottish Parliament. (2018). Call for views submissions. Retrieved from http://www.parliament.scot/Health%20and%20Care%20(Staffing)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/ HS-S5-18-HCSS-69 UNISON Scotland.pdf [accessed August 2018]
- Scottish Government. (2015). Health and Social Care Principles. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Adult-Health-SocialCare-Integration/Principles [accessed 13 August 2018]
- 32 Scottish Government. (2017, March 24). Statutory Guidance health and social care integration. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Health-Social-Care-Integration/Statutory-Guidance-Advice [accessed 13 August 2018]

Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe) Briefings are compiled for the benefit of the Members of the Parliament and their personal staff. Authors are available to discuss the contents of these papers with MSPs and their staff who should contact Anne Jepson on telephone number 85364 or Anne.Jepson@parliament.scot.

Members of the public or external organisations may comment on this briefing by emailing us at SPICe@parliament.scot. However, researchers are unable to enter into personal discussion in relation to SPICe Briefing Papers. If you have any general questions about the work of the Parliament you can email the Parliament's Public Information Service at sp.info@parliament.scot. Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in SPICe briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to reflect subsequent changes.

